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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Acesite (Phils.) Hotel Corporation 
8th Floor, Waterfront Manila Hotel and Casino  
United Nations Avenue corner Maria Orosa Street 
Ermita, Manila 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Acesite (Phils.) Hotel 
Corporation (the Parent Company) and Subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 
the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows 
for the years then ended, and notes, comprising summary of material accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly,  
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the 
Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 



 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates 
that as at date, the Group’s hotel operations have been suspended due to the 2018 fire 
incident significantly damaging the Group’s podium and hotel property, and that the 
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by P625.84 million and  
P381.35 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As stated in Note 1, 
these events and conditions, among others, indicate that a material uncertainty exists 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. 
Note 1 discloses the plans of the Company to improve its cash flows. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Key Audit Matter 
 
Key audit matter is that matter that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. Other than the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to 
Going Concern section, we have determined no other matters to be key audit matters to 
be communicated in our report.. 

 
Going concern  
(see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements) 

 
The Risk 
Events and conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern are not completely identified. Further, 
inadequate disclosure in the financial statements when events or conditions have 
been identified, and a material uncertainty exists. We focused on this area 
because there is a risk that the Group’s plans for future actions relating to its 
going concern assessment are unreasonable or insufficient. 
 
Our response 
As part of our audit procedures, we considered throughout the audit whether 
events or conditions exist that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. We challenged the assessment of the Group on its 
going concern assumption by assessing its cash budget forecast and evaluated 
whether key assumptions are within reasonable range. We evaluated Group’s 
plans for future actions are realistic, achievable and consistent with other 
evidence, and whether data used is reliable and relevant. We also obtained letter 
of financial support from Ultimate Parent Company and shareholder and 
evaluated their intent and ability to provide such support. 

 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Form 20-IS 
(Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, but does not include the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. The SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information 
Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2024 
are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
 
 



 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

 
 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 

regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the group 
as a basis for forming an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is 
Oliver C. Bucao. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
 
OLIVER C. BUCAO 
Partner 
CPA License No. 0086699 
Tax Identification No. 129-433-612 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-053-2023 
  Issued March 10, 2023; valid until March 10, 2026 
PTR No. MKT 10467168 
  Issued January 2, 2025 at Makati City 
 
 
May 1, 2025 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
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  R.G. Manabat & Co., a Philippine partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 

affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee 
 

 

    
 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Acesite (Phils.) Hotel Corporation 
8th Floor, Waterfront Manila Hotel and Casino  
United Nations Avenue corner Maria Orosa Street 
Ermita, Manila 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Acesite (Phils.) Hotel 
Corporation (the Parent Company) and Subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 
the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows 
for the years then ended, and notes, comprising summary of material accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly,  
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the 
Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 



 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates 
that as at date, the Group’s hotel operations have been suspended due to the 2018 fire 
incident significantly damaging the Group’s podium and hotel property, and that the 
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by P625.84 million and  
P381.35 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As stated in Note 1, 
these events and conditions, among others, indicate that a material uncertainty exists 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. 
Note 1 discloses the plans of the Company to improve its cash flows. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Key Audit Matter 
 
Key audit matter is that matter that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. Other than the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to 
Going Concern section, we have determined no other matters to be key audit matters to 
be communicated in our report.. 

 
Going concern  
(see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements) 

 
The Risk 
Events and conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern are not completely identified. Further, 
inadequate disclosure in the financial statements when events or conditions have 
been identified, and a material uncertainty exists. We focused on this area 
because there is a risk that the Group’s plans for future actions relating to its 
going concern assessment are unreasonable or insufficient. 
 
Our response 
As part of our audit procedures, we considered throughout the audit whether 
events or conditions exist that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. We challenged the assessment of the Group on its 
going concern assumption by assessing its cash budget forecast and evaluated 
whether key assumptions are within reasonable range. We evaluated Group’s 
plans for future actions are realistic, achievable and consistent with other 
evidence, and whether data used is reliable and relevant. We also obtained letter 
of financial support from Ultimate Parent Company and shareholder and 
evaluated their intent and ability to provide such support. 

 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Form 20-IS 
(Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, but does not include the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. The SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information 
Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2024 
are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
 
 



 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

 
 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 

regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the group 
as a basis for forming an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is 
Oliver C. Bucao. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
 
OLIVER C. BUCAO 
Partner 
CPA License No. 0086699 
Tax Identification No. 129-433-612 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-053-2023 
  Issued March 10, 2023; valid until March 10, 2026 
PTR No. MKT 10467168 
  Issued January 2, 2025 at Makati City 
 
 
May 1, 2025 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
 



 

 

      
 

 

    
     
     
      
      
     
     
     
   R.G. Manabat & Co. 

    The KPMG Center, 6/F 

   6787 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 

   Philippines 1209  

   Telephone +63 (2) 8885 7000  

   Fax +63 (2) 8894 1985 
 

    Internet www.home.kpmg/ph 
   Email ph-inquiry@kpmg.com 
      

 

 

Firm Regulatory Registration & Accreditation: 
PRC-BOA Registration No. 0003, valid until September 20, 2026 
SEC Accreditation No. 0003-SEC, Group A, valid for the audit of annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 
   and until the audit of annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated April 4, 2025 
IC Accreditation No. 0003-IC, Group A, valid for five (5) years covering the audit of 2020 to 2024  
   financial statements (2019 financial statements are covered by IC Circular Letter (CL) No. 2019-39, Transition clause) 
BSP Accreditation No. 0003-BSP, Group A, valid for five (5) years covering the audit of 2020 to 2024  
   financial statements  

    
  R.G. Manabat & Co., a Philippine partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 

affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee 
 

 

    
 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
ON COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Acesite (Phils.) Hotel Corporation 
8th Floor, Waterfront Manila Hotel and Casino  
United Nations Avenue corner Maria Orosa Street 
Ermita, Manila 
 
We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated 
financial statements of Acesite (Phils.) Hotel Corporation and Subsidiaries (the Group) 
as at and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, included in this Form 17-A, 
on which we have rendered our report thereon dated May 1, 2025. 
 
Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group taken as a whole. The Supplementary Schedule on 
Financial Soundness Indicators, including their definitions, formulas, calculation, and 
their appropriateness or usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the 
Group's management. These financial soundness indicators are not measures of 
operating performance defined by PFRS Accounting Standards and may not be 
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

This schedule is presented for the purpose of complying with the Revised Securities 
Regulation Code Rule 68 and is not a required part of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. The components of these financial soundness indicators have been traced 
to the Group's consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended  
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and no material exceptions were noted. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
 
OLIVER C. BUCAO 
Partner 
CPA License No. 0086699 
Tax Identification No. 129-433-612 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-053-2023 
  Issued March 10, 2023; valid until March 10, 2026 
PTR No. MKT 10467168 
  Issued January 2, 2025 at Makati City 
 
 
May 1, 2025 
Makati City, Metro Manila 



 

 

      
 

 

    
     
     
      
      
     
     
     
   R.G. Manabat & Co. 

    The KPMG Center, 6/F 

   6787 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 

   Philippines 1209  

   Telephone +63 (2) 8885 7000  

   Fax +63 (2) 8894 1985 
 

    Internet www.home.kpmg/ph 
   Email ph-inquiry@kpmg.com 
      

 

 

Firm Regulatory Registration & Accreditation: 
PRC-BOA Registration No. 0003, valid until September 20, 2026 
SEC Accreditation No. 0003-SEC, Group A, valid for the audit of annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 
   and until the audit of annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated April 4, 2025 
IC Accreditation No. 0003-IC, Group A, valid for five (5) years covering the audit of 2020 to 2024  
   financial statements (2019 financial statements are covered by IC Circular Letter (CL) No. 2019-39, Transition clause) 
BSP Accreditation No. 0003-BSP, Group A, valid for five (5) years covering the audit of 2020 to 2024  
   financial statements  

    
  R.G. Manabat & Co., a Philippine partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 

affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee 
 

 

    
 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Acesite (Phils.) Hotel Corporation 
8th Floor, Waterfront Manila Hotel and Casino  
United Nations Avenue corner Maria Orosa Street 
Ermita, Manila 
 
We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated 
financial statements of Acesite (Phils.) Hotel Corporation and Subsidiaries (the Group) 
as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024, included in this Form 17-A, on which 
we have rendered our report thereon dated May 1, 2025. 
 
Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group taken as a whole. The supplementary information 
included in the following accompanying additional components is the responsibility of the 
Group’s management. 
 
 Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration (Annex A) 
 Map of Conglomerate (Annex B) 
 Supplementary Schedules of Annex 68-J (Annex C) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

The supplementary information is presented for purposes of complying with the Revised 
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 and is not a required part of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. Such supplementary information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group taken as a whole. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
 
OLIVER C. BUCAO 
Partner 
CPA License No. 0086699 
Tax Identification No. 129-433-612 
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Acesite (Phils) Hotel Corporation. is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements including the schedule. uttu"h"d therein,
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, in accordance with the prescribed financial
reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company,s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters relatedio going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends tJliquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders or members

R'G' Manabat & Co., appointed by the stockholders, has audited the financial statements of the
company in accordance with the Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the
stockholders or members, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon
completion of such audit.

Signed under oath by the following:

f/r..1, * 4-'r/
Arthur M. Lopez
Chairman of the Board

Ev
C

Signed this _th day of 20

l'Soliveres
e Finance Director



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION  
AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

                              December 31 
 Note 2024 2023 
ASSETS    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 17 P20,883,077 P20,469,058 
Trade and other current receivables - net  4, 17 22,338,852 45,208,122 
Note receivable 10, 17 112,950,334 107,023,005 
Inventories 5 762,424 762,424 
Due from related parties 10 71,160,906 75,652,997 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6 22,904,976 206,090,077 

Total Current Assets  251,000,569 455,205,683 

Noncurrent Assets    
Property and equipment - net 7 1,747,717,909 1,764,106,580 
Equity securities - at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 10, 17 18,382,520 19,943,300 
Other noncurrent assets - net 8 860,380,930 685,823,037 

Total Noncurrent Assets  2,626,481,359 2,469,872,917 
  P2,877,481,928 P2,925,078,600 

    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and other current payables 9, 17 P335,722,769 P324,644,663 
Due to related parties 10, 17 536,034,728 511,915,749 

Total Current Liabilities  871,757,497 836,560,412 

Noncurrent Liabilities    
Retention payables 17 88,487,516 88,381,362 
Retirement benefits liability 14 6,588,583 5,929,700 
Deferred tax liabilities - net 15 197,112,685 202,170,867 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities  292,188,784 296,481,929 
Total Liabilities  1,163,946,281 1,133,042,341 

Equity    
Capital stock 11, 18 346,100,578 346,100,578 
Revaluation surplus on property and equipment 7 121,080,712 135,757,162 
Fair value reserve  6,132,050 7,692,830 
Treasury shares  (12,041,700) (12,041,700) 
Retained earnings 11 1,189,698,974 1,252,266,664 
Retirement benefits reserve  62,565,033 62,260,725 

Total Equity  1,713,535,647 1,792,036,259 
  P2,877,481,928 P2,925,078,600 

    
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
 
 
 



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION 
AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 Years Ended December 31 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 
REVENUES   P   -     P   -     P   -     
COSTS AND EXPENSES  

OTHER THAN  
DEPRECIATION,  
FINANCING AND INCOME  
TAX BENEFIT      

Personnel 14 22,563,530 25,025,898 21,811,080 
Energy  2,402,194 3,912,540 3,686,177 
Others 12 72,066,872 34,476,749 37,549,817 
  97,032,596 63,415,187 63,047,074 

LOSS BEFORE GAIN 
(LOSSES), DEPRECIATION, 
FINANCING AND INCOME 
TAX BENEFIT  (97,032,596) (63,415,187) (63,047,074) 

GAIN (LOSSES), 
DEPRECIATION  
AND FINANCING     

Depreciation 7 (19,568,600) (19,819,109) (21,564,304) 
Foreign exchange gains  

(losses) - net  9,963 15,201 -     
Financing income (charges) - 

net 13 4,484,769 3,060,394 6,623,697 
Gain from insurance claims  30,401,133 -     -     
  15,327,265 (16,773,916) (14,940,607) 

LOSS BEFORE INCOME 
TAX BENEFIT  (81,705,331) (80,189,103) (77,987,681) 

INCOME TAX BENEFIT 15 (4,461,191) (5,265,060) (5,130,467) 
NET LOSS    (P77,244,140) (P74,924,043) (P72,857,214) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME      

Items that will never be 
reclassified to profit or loss     

Remeasurement gains on 
defined benefit plan 14 P405,743 P491,536 P440,482 

Deferred tax effect 15 (101,436) (122,884) (110,120) 
  304,307 368,652 330,362 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
LOSS  (P76,939,833) (P74,555,391) (P72,526,852) 

LOSS EARNINGS PER 
SHARE - Basic and Diluted 16 (P0.22) (P0.22) (P0.21) 

     
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION  
AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 Year Ended December 31 

 
Capital Stock 

(Note 11) 

Revaluation 
Surplus on 

Property and 
Equipment  

(Note 7) 

Retirement 
Benefits 
Reserve 
(Note 14) 

Fair Value 
Reserve 

Retained  
Earnings 

(Note 11) 

Treasury  
Stock 

(Note 11) Total 

Balance at beginning P346,100,578 P135,757,162 P62,260,725 P7,692,830 P1,252,266,664 (P12,041,700) P1,792,036,259 

Net loss for the year -     -     -     -     (77,244,140) -     (77,244,140) 
Transfer of revaluation surplus absorbed through 

depreciation for the year - net of tax effect -     (14,676,450) -     -     14,676,450 -     -     
Other comprehensive income (loss) - net of tax effect -     -     304,308 (1,560,780) -     -     (1,256,472) 
 -     (14,676,450) 304,308 (1,560,780)    (62,567,690) -     (78,500,612) 

Balance at December 31, 2024 P346,100,578 P121,080,712 P62,565,033 P6,132,050 P1,189,698,974 (P12,041,700) P1,713,535,647 

        

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION  
AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 Year Ended December 31 

 
Capital Stock 

(Note 11) 

Revaluation 
Surplus on 

Property and 
Equipment  

(Note 7) 

Retirement 
Benefits 
Reserve 
(Note 14) 

Fair Value 
Reserve 

Retained  
Earnings 
(Note 11) 

Treasury  
Stock 

(Note 11) Total 

Balance at beginning P346,100,578 P150,433,612 P61,892,073 P7,692,830 P1,312,514,257 (P12,041,700) P1,866,591,650 

Net loss for the year -     -     -     -     (74,924,043) -     (74,924,043) 
Transfer of revaluation surplus absorbed through 

depreciation for the year - net of tax effect -     (14,676,450) -     -     14,676,450 -     -     
Other comprehensive income - net of tax effect -     -     368,652 -     -     -     368,652 
 -     (14,676,450) 368,652 -     (60,247,593) -     (74,555,391) 

Balance at December 31, 2023 P346,100,578 P135,757,162 P62,260,725 P7,692,830 P1,252,266,664 (P12,041,700) P1,792,036,259 

        

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION  
AND SUBSIDIARIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 Year Ended December 31 

 
Capital Stock 

(Note 11) 

Revaluation 
Surplus on 

Property and 
Equipment  

(Note 7) 

Retirement 
Benefits 
Reserve 
(Note 14) 

Fair Value 
Reserve  

Retained  
Earnings 
(Note 11) 

Treasury  
Stock 

(Note 11) Total 

Balance at beginning P346,100,578 P165,110,062 P61,561,711 P7,692,830 P1,370,695,021 (P12,041,700) P1,939,118,502 

Total Comprehensive Loss for the Year        
Net loss for the year -     -     -     -     (72,857,214) -     (72,857,214) 
Transfer of revaluation surplus absorbed through 

depreciation for the year - net of tax effect -     (14,676,450) -     -     14,676,450 -     -     
Other comprehensive income - net of tax effect -     -    330,362 -     -     -     330,362 
 -     (14,676,450) 330,362 -     (58,180,764) -     (72,526,852) 

Balance at December 31, 2022 P346,100,578 P150,433,612 P61,892,073 P7,692,830 P1,312,514,257 (P12,041,700) P1,866,591,650 

 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION  
AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 Years Ended December 31 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 
CASH FLOWS FROM 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Loss before income tax benefit  (P81,705,331) (P80,189,103) (P77,987,681) 
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation 7 19,568,600 19,819,109 21,564,304 
Retirement benefits expense 14 1,064,626 1,163,168 1,154,682 
Foreign exchange gains 

(losses) - net  (9,963) (15,201) -     
Interest income 13 (4,362,336) (3,063,281) (6,626,267) 

Loss before working capital 
changes  (65,444,404) (62,285,308) (61,894,962) 

Decrease (increase) in:     
Trade and other current 

receivables  4 4,474,824 72,692,024 20,631,260 
Prepaid expenses and other 

current assets  6 184,039,871 (2,496,491) (30,259,723) 
Increase (decrease) in:     

Trade and other current 
payables 9 15,480,187 (65,374,267) (45,909,775) 

Due from related parties 10 4,429,091 (75,652,997) -     
Cash generated from (absorbed 

by) operations  142,979,569 (133,117,039) (117,433,200) 
Interest received 13 4,362,336 3,063,281 6,626,267 
Income tax paid 15 (698,427) -     -     
Contributions paid 14 -     (120,949) -     
Net cash generated from  

(used in) operating activities  146,643,478 (130,174,707) (110,806,933) 

CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Decrease (increase) in:     
Note receivable 10 (5,927,329) (8,321,189) (7,084,909) 
Other noncurrent assets 8 (179,645,588) 3,685,763 57,381,744 

Proceeds from insurance 
claims on property damages 1 18,394,446 -     6,816,060 
Additions to property and 

equipment 7 (3,179,929) (41,795,001) (248,174,339) 
Net cash used in investing 

activities  (170,358,400) (46,430,427) (191,061,444) 
Forward 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 Years Ended December 31 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 
CASH FLOW FROM A 

FINANCING ACTIVITY      
Increase (decrease) in due to 

related parties 10 P24,118,978 P54,584,781 (P24,552,868) 
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 

IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  404,056 (122,020,353) (326,421,245) 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE 
RATE CHANGES ON CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  9,963 15,201 -     

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 17 20,469,058 142,474,210 468,895,455 

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  
AT END OF YEAR 17 P20,883,077 P20,469,058 P142,474,210 

   
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.   

 



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION  
AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
1. Reporting Entity  

 
Acesite (Phils.) Hotel Corporation (the Parent Company) was incorporated in the 
Philippines and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) on October 10, 1952 primarily to engage in the business of operating a hotel, 
or other accommodations, for the general public and to construct such facilities as 
may be reasonably necessary or useful in connection with the same. The Parent 
Company is a 55.70%-owned subsidiary of Waterfront Philippines, Inc. (WPI). 
 
The Parent Company amended its Articles of Incorporation for the change in the 
Parent Company’s trade name from Manila Pavilion Hotel to Waterfront Manila Hotel 
and Casino and address from 7th Floor, Manila Pavilion Hotel, United Nations 
Avenue, Ermita, Manila to 8th Floor, Waterfront Manila Hotel and Casino, United 
Nations Avenue corner Maria Orosa Street, Ermita, Manila. The amended Articles of 
Incorporation was approved by the SEC on July 7, 2020. 
 
The Parent Company is the owner and operator of Waterfront Manila Hotel and 
Casino (the Hotel). The Parent Company has corporate life of 50 years pursuant to 
its articles of incorporation. However, under the Revised Corporation Code of the 
Philippines which took effect on February 23, 2019, the Parent Company shall have 
a perpetual corporate life. The Parent Company’s shares have been listed on the 
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) since December 5, 1986. 
 
The details of the equity interest of the Parent Company in its subsidiaries as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 
 

 

        Percentage of 
       Ownership  
Direct Indirect 

Real Estate   
Acesite Realty, Inc. (formerly CIMA Realty Phils., Inc.) (ARI) 100 -   
Hotel Management and Operation   
Pavillion Leisure and Entertainment Corp.* (PLEC) 

(Through Direct Ownership in ARI)   86 14 
Pavillion Enterprises Corp.* (PEC) 100 -   

*nonoperating entities 
 
The Company and all of the above subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the Group) 
were incorporated in the Philippines.  
 
Status of Operation 
On March 18, 2018, a fire broke out in the Parent Company’s hotel property 
damaging the podium and hotel building and suspending its hotel operations. Based 
on the Fire Certification issued by the Bureau of Fire Protection - National 
Headquarters on April 23, 2018, the cause of the subject fire was declared and 
classified as “accidental in nature”. The Group incurred casualty losses due to 
damage of inventories and hotel property. The Group filed for property damage and 
business insurance claims which were finalized in 2020 amounting to P1.72 billion. 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, insurance claims receivable amounted to nil 
and P18.4 million, respectively (see note 4). 
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While the project completion has been extended due to some delays, the 
construction activities have not been totally stopped and are still ongoing as of 
December 31, 2024. The management expects to complete Phase 1 of a 
reconstruction project by the 1st quarter of 2026. Phase 1 includes public areas 
including the lobby, some food and beverage outlets, and the casino area at the 
ground floor level up to the third floor.  The entire proceeds from insurance coverage 
claims have been allotted to complete Phase 1 of the reconstruction work with 
additional funding expected to be come from bank borrowings to be guaranteed by 
an affiliate. The amenities, guest facilities, and the remaining rooms of the hotel 
building are expected to be completed in Phases 2 and 3 of the reconstruction 
projects. Phases 2 and 3 are expected to be completed by the 3rd quarter of 2026 
and 1st quarter of 2027, respectively. These two latter phases will be funded by the 
cash flows that will be generated by the operations of Phase 1 and, when necessary, 
bank borrowings. 
 
Going Concern 
Management continues to have a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operation for at least the next 12 months and that 
the going concern basis of accounting remains appropriate. The effects of the fire 
incident in 2018 significantly damaged the Group’s hotel property resulting in the 
suspension of the Group’s hotel operations.  The Group’s current liabilities exceeded 
its total assets by P625.84 million and P381.35 million as at December 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. This condition, among others, indicates the existence of material 
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, and therefore, that it may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 
In response to the above, the management has initiated the following mitigating 
actions to optimize the Group’s cash flows, preserve liquidity and continue as a going 
concern: 
 
 Complete the project based on schedule and operate based on the project 

timeline; 
 Negotiate terms with suppliers and vendors to defer payments; 
 Ensure implementation of strict project cost controls; 
 Reduce non-essential capital expenditure and deferring or cancelling 

discretionary spending; 
 Freeze non-essential recruitment; and 
 Resume partial operations on portion of properties with completed 

reconstruction/restoration. 
 
Based on these factors, management has a reasonable expectation that the Group 
has adequate resources. Further, Waterfront Philippines, Inc. (the ultimate Parent 
Company) and the Wellex Group, Inc. (shareholder)  will continue to provide financial 
support and other resources to the Group to enable it to continue as a going 
concern. 
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2. Basis of Preparation 
 
Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. PFRS Accounting Standards 
are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). PFRS Accounting Standards 
which are issued by the Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council 
(FSRSC) consist of PFRS Accounting Standards, Philippine Accounting Standards 
(PAS) and Philippine Interpretations.  
 
Authorization for Issuance of the Financial Statements 
The accompanying financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by 
the Board of Directors (BOD) on April 28, 2025. 
 
Details of the Group’s material accounting policies are included in Note 20. 
 
Basis of Measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis of accounting except for the following items, which are measured on an 
alternative basis on each reporting date: 
 
Items Measurement Bases 
 Hotel building and equipment and 

furniture and fixtures 
 Revalued amount less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses 
 Equity securities - at fair value 

through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI) 

 Fair value 

 Retirement benefits liability  Present value of the defined 
benefits obligation (DBO) less fair 
value of plan assets (FVPA) 

 
Functional and Presentation Currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso (PHP), which 
is the Parent Company’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the 
nearest peso, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
 

3. Use of Judgments and Estimates 
 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized prospectively. 
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Judgments 
Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the 
most significant effects on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements is as follows: 
 
Recognizing Insurance Claims 
The Parent Company recognizes gain on insurance from its damaged property and 
business interruption claims when it is determined that the amount to be received 
from the insurance recovery is virtually certain and recognition in the period is 
appropriate considering the following: 
 
 There is a valid insurance policy for the incident; 
 The status of the Parent Company’s discussion with the adjuster and the 

insurance company regarding the claim; and 
 The subsequent information that confirm the status of the claim as of the 

reporting date. 
 
Going Concern 
The management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as 
going concern for at least 12 months from the yearend date of the consolidated 
financial statements. The Group filed for property damage and business insurance 
claims and from its insurance companies totaling to P1.72 billion which has been 
allotted for the reconstruction of the hotel property. Additional bank borrowing, to be 
guaranteed by an affiliate (Note 1) will be made to fund the Phase 1 of the 
reconstruction project which are ongoing since 2018. 
 
Although the various community quarantines implemented in Metro Manila have 
caused some delays, construction activities have not been totally stopped and 
management expects to complete Phase 1 of reconstruction project by the 1st 
quarter of 2026. A soft opening of the podium, which houses the public areas 
including the lobby, some food and beverage outlets and the casino area at the 
ground floor level up to the third floor, is expected by the 1st quarter of 2026. The 
hotel rooms are expected to be partially completed in Phase 1 and the remaining 
amenities, guest facilities and rooms of the hotel building are expected to be 
completed over Phase 2 and Phase 3 of the reconstruction project. Phases 2 and 3 
are expected to be completed by the 3rd quarter of 2026 and 1st quarter of 2027, 
respectively. These two latter phases will be funded by the cash flows generated by 
the operations and, when necessary, bank borrowings. 
 
Management has determined that there is no material uncertainty in respect of the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern therefore, the consolidated financial 
statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
Classifying Financial Instruments 
The Group exercises judgment in classifying a financial instrument, or its component 
parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability, or an equity 
instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement and the 
definition of a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument. The 
substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its 
classification in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
Distinguishing Investment Properties and Owner-occupied Properties 
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property. In 
making its judgment, the Group considers whether the property generates cash flows 
largely independent of the other assets held by an entity. Owner-occupied properties 
generate cash flows that are attributable not only to the properties but also to the 
other assets used in the delivery of services. 
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Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the delivery of services or for 
administrative purposes. If these portions cannot be sold separately, the property is 
accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in 
the delivery of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgment is applied 
in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not 
qualify as investment property. The Group has classified its properties as  
owner-occupied (see Notes 7). 
 
Transactions with PAGCOR 
The Group has significant transactions with PAGCOR. Under Presidential Decree 
(PD) No. 1869, otherwise known as the PAGCOR Charter, PAGCOR is exempted 
from payment of any form of taxes other than the 5% franchise tax imposed on the 
gross revenue or earnings derived by PAGCOR from its operations under the 
franchise. The amended Revenue Regulations (RR) No. 16-2005 which became 
effective in 2006, however, provides that gross receipts of PAGCOR shall be subject 
to the 12% value-added tax (VAT). In February 2007, the Philippine Congress 
amended PD No. 1869 to extend the franchise term of PAGCOR for another  
25 years but did not include any revocation of PAGCOR’s tax exemption privileges 
as previously provided for in PD No. 1869. In accounting for the Group’s transactions 
with PAGCOR, the Group’s management and its legal counsel have made a 
judgment that the amended PD No. 1869 prevails over the amended RR  
No. 16-2005 (see Note 19). 
 
Operating Lease - Group as Lessor 
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on the commercial spaces 
located in the Hotel. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms 
and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of these commercial spaces and accounts for the contracts as 
operating leases. 
 
Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties 
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant 
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the next financial year is as follows: 
 
Provision for Expected Credit Losses on Financial Assets 
The Group uses the expected credit loss (ECL) model in estimating the level of 
allowance which includes forecasts of future events and conditions. A credit loss is 
the difference between the cash flows that are expected to be received discounted at 
the original effective interest rate (EIR). PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, requires the 
Group to record ECL on all of its financial instruments, either on a 12-month or 
lifetime basis. The Group applied the simplified approach to receivables from third 
parties and recorded the lifetime ECL. The model represents a probability-weighted 
estimate of the difference over the remaining life of the receivables. Lifetime ECL is 
calculated by multiplying the lifetime Probability of Default by Loss Given Default 
(LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD). LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there 
is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery 
rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. EAD represents the expected 
exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current 
exposure to the counterparty. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying 
amount at the time of default. 
 
Further details on the carrying amount of assets are disclosed in Notes 4, 8, and 10. 
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Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments 
If the financial instruments are not traded in an active market, the fair value is 
determined using valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques are used to 
determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified 
personnel independent of the created them.  
 
All models are certified before they are used and are calibrated to ensure that 
outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, 
models use only observable data, however, areas such as credit risk (both own and 
counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. 
Change in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair values of 
financial instruments. 
 
Further details on the fair value measurement of financial instruments are disclosed 
in Note 17. 
 
Revaluation of Property and Equipment 
The Group carries certain classes of property and equipment at fair value, with 
changes in fair value being recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI).  
The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to assess fair value. Fair 
value is determined with references to transactions involving properties of a similar 
nature, location and condition. 
 
The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of properties are provided in 
Note 7. 
 
Useful Lives of Property and Equipment 
The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period 
over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful 
lives of property and equipment are reviewed at each reporting date and are updated 
if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical 
or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. In 
addition, estimation of the useful lives of property and equipment is based on the 
collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and 
experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of 
operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by 
changes in the factors mentioned. The amounts and timing of recording of expenses 
for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances.  
 
A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the property and equipment would 
increase depreciation and decrease the property and equipment account. 
 
Further details on the carrying amount of property and equipment are disclosed in  
Note 7. 
 
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets  
The Group’s policy on estimating the impairment of nonfinancial assets is discussed 
in Note 20. The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication 
that the carrying amount of nonfinancial assets may be impaired or that previously 
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
 
The factors that the Group considers important which could trigger an impairment 
review include the following: 
 
 significant underperformance relative to the expected historical or projected 

future operating results; 
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 significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy 
for overall business; and  

 significant negative industry or economic trends. 
 
The Group assessed that the carrying amounts of its nonfinancial assets 
approximate their recoverable amounts. Further details on the carrying amount of 
nonfinancial assets are disclosed in Notes 5, 6, 7 and 8.  
 
Retirement Benefits 
The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and the present value of the pension 
obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. 
These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases and 
future pension increases. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its 
long-term nature, a DBO is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All 
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. 
 
The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. The discount rate 
assumption is based on the Bankers Association of the Philippines PHP Bloomberg 
Valuation Reference Rates benchmark reference curve for the government securities 
market considering average years of remaining working life of the employees as the 
estimated term of the DBO. 
 
Further details about pension obligations are provided in Note 14. 
 
Deferred Tax Assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for financial statement and tax differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which these 
differences can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the 
likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning 
strategies. 
 
Further details on deferred taxes are disclosed in Note 15. 
 
 

4. Trade and Other Current Receivables  
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 
Trade receivables  P19,646,919 P18,345,114 
Insurance receivable 1 -     18,394,446 
Others  35,800,404 28,379,949 
 17 55,447,323 65,119,509 
Less: allowance for impairment losses 

on guests, concessionaires and other 
patrons and other receivables 17 33,108,471 19,911,387 

  P22,338,852 P45,208,122 
 
Insurance receivable pertains to insurance claims for the property damage and 
business interruption (Notes 1 and 20).  
 
Others include advances by the Group to officers and employees and reimbursable 
from suppliers. 
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In assessing the lifetime ECL of the Group's receivables, the Group excluded in its 
assessment all receivables that were related to long outstanding third-party accounts 
as these were already specifically identified as uncollectible, hence, impaired. The 
management has recognized an additional impairment loss amounting to P13.2 
million, nil, and nil in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 
 
 

5. Inventories 
 
The Group’s inventories are carried at cost, which is lower than the NRV, as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounting to P0.76 million. 
 
The cost recognized as an expense for operating supplies of P0.10 million, P0.10 
million, and P0.26 in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, is included as part of 
“Supplies” under “Others” account in the separate statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (see Note 13). 
 
 

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  2024 2023 
Creditable withholding taxes  P22,348,006 P22,728,551 
Input VAT - net  89,700 173,354,640 
Other prepayments  467,270 10,006,886 
  P22,904,976 P206,090,077 

 
Creditable withholding taxes are excess of tax credits over current income tax due 
which can be applied against future income tax liability. 
 
Input VAT is available as tax credit against output VAT liability. 
 
Others consist of prepaid licenses and taxes, prepaid maintenance, deposits and 
prepaid subscription charges.   
 
 

7. Property and Equipment  
 
The balances and movements in this account are as follows: 
 

 As at and for the Year Ended December 31, 2024 

 Land Hotel Building 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Equipment 
Construction- 

in-Progress  
Measurement Basis: At Cost Revalued Revalued At Cost Total 
Cost      
Beginning balance  P650,000,000 P471,046,928 P14,854,179 P933,097,030 P2,068,998,137 
Additions -     -     -     3,179,929 3,179,929 
Ending balance 650,000,000 471,046,928 14,854,179 936,276,959 2,072,178,066 

Accumulated Depreciation      
Beginning balance -     290,037,378 14,854,179 -     304,891,557 
Depreciation for the year -     19,568,600 -     -     19,568,600 
Ending balance -     309,605,978 14,854,179 -     324,460,157 

Carrying Amount P650,000,000 P161,440,950 P   -     P936,276,959 P1,747,717,909 
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 As at and for the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 Land Hotel Building 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Equipment 
Construction- 

in-Progress  
Measurement Basis: At Cost Revalued Revalued At Cost Total 
Cost      
Beginning balance  P650,000,000 P471,046,928 P14,854,179 P891,302,029 P2,027,203,136 
Additions -     -     -     41,795,001 41,795,001 
Ending balance 650,000,000 471,046,928 14,854,179 933,097,030 2,068,998,137 

Accumulated Depreciation      
Beginning balance -     270,468,778 14,603,670 -     285,072,448 
Depreciation for the year -     19,568,600 250,509 -     19,819,109 
Ending balance -     290,037,378 14,854,179 -     304,891,557 

Carrying Amount P650,000,000 P181,009,550 P   -     P933,097,030 P1,764,106,580 

 
In 2023, the Company engaged an independent firm of appraisers to determine the 
fair value of certain classes of its property and equipment, specifically hotel building 
and furniture, fixtures and equipment, which are carried at revalued amounts. Fair 
value was determined by reference to market-based evidence, which is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, an estimate was 
made in accordance with the prevailing prices for materials, equipment, labor, and 
contractor’s overhead and all other costs associated with acquisition while taking into 
account the depreciation resulting from physical deterioration, functional and 
economic obsolescence. The Company’s revaluation of its property and equipment is 
done with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.  
 
In 2023, “land”, “hotel buildings” and “furniture, fixtures and equipment” were 
revalued by an independent professional appraiser, accredited by the Professional 
Regulation Commission and the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 
No revaluation was performed as of December 31, 2024. Management believes that 
the carrying amounts of “hotel buildings and improvements”, “furniture, fixtures and 
equipment” and “transportation equipment” as of reporting date do not differ 
materially from their fair values, and thus, no revaluation was necessary. 
 
Had the following classes of property and equipment been carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, their carrying amounts as at December 31 would have 
been as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
Hotel building P1,503,527 P1,503,527 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 14,846,724 13,633,905 
 16,350,251 15,137,432 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 12,402,505 10,156,292 
 P3,947,746 P4,981,140 

 
Depreciation on cost charged to profit or loss amounted to P22.16 million, P21.88 
million, and P21.30 million in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 
 
The revaluation surplus absorbed through depreciation and transferred directly to 
retained earnings, net of tax effect, amounted to P14.68 million as at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. The carrying amount of revaluation surplus, net of tax 
amounting to P121.08 million and P135.76 million as at December 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively, is not available for distribution to shareholders. 
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8. Other Noncurrent Assets 
 
This account consists of: 
 

 Note 2024 2023 
Advances to contractors  P723,383,822 P723,596,126 
Other deposits 17 7,539,918 7,539,918 
Other noncurrent asset  174,770,198 -     
  905,693,937 731,136,044 
Less: allowance for impairment losses 

on advances to contractors  45,313,007 45,313,007 
  P860,380,930 P685,823,037 

 
Advances to contractors are deposits for the reconstruction and restoration of the 
Company’s hotel property and equipment (see Note 1). 
 
There were no additional impairment losses on advances to contractors recognized 
for 2024, 2023 and 2022. 
 
Other noncurrent asset pertains to reclassification of input vat from current to 
noncurrent in 2024 since it is not expected to be utilized within one year following on 
the suspension of the Parent Company’s operations as a result of the fire in 2018. 
 
 

9. Trade and Other Current Payables and Retention Payables 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 
Trade payables  P292,027,673 P315,680,836 
Accruals:    

Utilities  19,602,341 1,152,409 
Other accruals  17,101,547 2,372,052 
Withholding taxes   1,098,007 1,493,742 
Others  5,893,201 3,945,624 

 17 P335,733,769 P324,644,663 
 
Trade payables are noninterest-bearing and are normally on a 30-day term.  
 
Other payables include commissions, unclaimed wages, sponsorships, Social 
Security System, Philippine Health Insurance Corporation and Housing Development 
Mutual Fund and sundry payables. 
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10. Related Party Transactions 
 
Identity of Related Parties 
The Group has related party relationships with its key management personnel (KMP) 
and the following entities: 
 
Related Party Relationship  
WPI Ultimate Parent Company 
ARI Subsidiary 
PLEC Subsidiary 
PEC Subsidiary 
Waterfront Cebu City Casino Hotel, Incorporated  

(WCCCHI) Under Common Control 
Waterfront Mactan Casino Hotel, Incorporated (WMCHI) Under Common Control 
Davao Insular Hotel Company, Inc. (DIHCI) Under Common Control 
Waterfront Hotel Management Corporation (WHMC) Under Common Control 
Acesite Leisure Entertainment Corporation (ALEC) Under Common Control 
Grand Ilocandia Resort and Development, Inc. Under common control 
Wellex Industries Incorporated (WII) Affiliate 

 
Significant Transactions and Balances with Related Parties 
The summary of significant transactions and balances with the related parties is as 
follows: 
 

    Outstanding Balance  

Category/ 
Transaction Year Note 

Amount 
of the 

Transaction 

Due from a 
Related  

Party 
Note 

Receivable 

Equity  
Securities -  

at FVOCI  

Due to 
Related 
Parties Terms Conditions 

WPI          
 Advances 2024 a P105,957,593 P36,438 P   -     P   -     P203,028,522 Noninterest-  Unsecured 

 2023 a (35,810,723) -     -     -     192,497,424    bearing, and  
 2022 a (29,964,88) -     -     -     132,881,652 payable on demand  

ALEC          
 Note receivable 2024 b 5,927,329 -     112,950,334 -         -     Due in one  Unsecured;  

 2023 b 8,321,189 -     107,023,005     -         -     year; interest- no impairment 
 2022 b 7,084,909 -     98,701,816 -     -     bearing  

WCCCHI          
 Advances 2024 c 7,425,838 1,500     -     -     15,228,872 Noninterest-  Unsecured 
 2023 c 148,753,087 -     -     -     7,804,535 bearing, and  
 2022 c 5,330,690 -     -     -     9,702,898 payable on demand  
WMCHI          
 Advances 2024 c 1,576,006 -     -     -     240,429,265 Noninterest-  Unsecured 
 2023 c (816,347) -     -     -     242,005,271 bearing, and   
 2022 c (262,916) -     -     -     242,263,251 payable on demand  
          
DIHCI          
 Advances 2024 c 77,348,819 750 -     -     77,348,069 Noninterest-  Unsecured 
 2023 c   (77,748,565)   5,265,398     -     -     69,608,519 bearing, and  
 2022 c 344,244 -     -     -     72,483,167 payable on demand  
WHMC          
 Advances 2024 d -     2,552,799 -     -      -     Noninterest-  Unsecured   
 2023 d 2,552,799     2,552,799  -     -     -     bearing, payable on   
 2022 d -     2,551,338 -     -     -     demand; impaired  
 Allowance for 2024 d -     -     -     -     -       

impairment  2023 d -     -     -     -     -       
losses 2022 d -     (2,551,338) -     -     -       

WII           
 Equity security -  2024 e (1,560,780) -     -     18,382,520 -       

at FVOCI 2023 e -     -     -     19,943,300 -       
 2022 e -     -     -     19,943,300 -       
 Advances  2024  9,360 67,844,160 -     -     -       
 2023  67,834,800 67,834,800 -     -     -       
 2022  -     -     -     -     -       
GIRDI          
Advances 2024 f 725,259 725,259 -     -      -       
 2023  -     -     -     -     -       
 2022  -     -     -     -     -       
KMP          
 Short-term  2024  -     -     -     -     -          

employee benefits 2023  -     -     -     -     -       
 2022  1,284,221 -     -     -     -       
 Post-employment  2024  -     -     -     -     -       

benefits 2023  -     -     -     -     -       
 2022  290,000 -     -     -     -       

TOTAL 2024   P71,160,906 P112,950,334 P18,382,520 P536,034,728   

TOTAL 2023   P75,652,997 P107,023,005 P19,943,300 P511,915,749   
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a. The transactions with WPI pertain to various noninterest-bearing and unsecured 
short-term advances which include WPI-allocated share in the common 
operating expenses.  

 
b. In 2017, the Parent Company extended a loan to ALEC payable on  

December 31, 2018, and bear interest at 4% per annum. From 2018 to 2023, the 
Parent Company extended another interest-bearing loan at 4% per annum to 
ALEC. In 2024, the Parent Company extended another interest-bearing loan at 
4% per annum to ALEC payable at the end of 2025. The related interest income 
recognized in profit or loss amounted to P4.34 million, P3.0 million, P3.39 million 
in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 13). 
 
Further, the Company and ALEC entered into a seven (7) year operating lease 
contract for use of hotel premises. The lease will commence once the planned 
soft opening of the podium building happens (see Note 1). 

 
c. In the ordinary course of business, the Company obtains noninterest-bearing, 

collateral-free cash and non-cash advances from related parties for shared 
corporate expenses. The above advances are due and demandable at anytime. 

 
d. The Parent Company has noninterest-bearing advances to WHMC for shared 

corporate expenses and working capital purposes. 
 
Advances specifically identified as impaired amounted to P2.55 million, 
recognized and presented as part of “Impairment losses” under “Others" account 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
(see Note 12). 
 

e. In July and August 2005, the BOD approved the conversion of the Company’s 
net receivables from related parties amounting to P43.30 million into  
86.71 million shares of stock of WII, an affiliate. The shares of WII are listed on 
the PSE. The fair market value of the shares based on closing market price as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounted to P18.38 million and P19.94 million, 
resulting in a valuation loss of P1.56 million, nil, and nil in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 
 

f. Starting May 2024, the Company has a noninterest-bearing advances to GIRDI 
for shared corporate expenses. 
 
All outstanding related party transactions are generally settled in cash. 
 
For purposes of consolidation, the following transaction was eliminated as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

Category/ 
Transaction Year Note 

Amount 
of the 

Transaction 

Due from 
a Related  

Party - net 
Note  

Receivable 

Equity  
Security - 
at FVOCI 

Due to 
Related 
Parties Terms Conditions 

ARI          
 Advances 2024 h P170,155 P7,980,218 P   -     P   -     P   -     Noninterest- Unsecured 
 2023  2,430,371 5,265,398 -     -     -     bearing, and  
 2022  2,498,032 5,379,692 -     -     -     payable on  
        demand  

 
h. In the ordinary course of business, the Company obtained noninterest-bearing, 

collateral-free cash and non-cash advances from ARI for shared corporate 
expenses and working capital purposes. The above advances are due on 
demand. 
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Further, the Company has entered into an operating lease with ARI for use of the 
latter’s land. This noncancellable operating lease commenced on 
November 1, 2011 and has a term of 20 years with escalation rate of 5% per 
annum. Also, the contract provides for two (2) months of free rental. 

 
 

11. Equity 
 
Common Shares 
Details of the common stock of the Parent Company as at December 31 are as 
follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
Authorized - P1 par value P1,200,000,000 P1,200,000,000 
Issued 346,100,578 346,100,578 
Outstanding 344,747,520 344,747,520 

 
Date of Registration/Listing Securities 
December 5, 1986 1,760,000 common shares 
January 26, 1998 73,351,197 common shares 

This is after SEC approval on October 16, 1997 of 
the change in authorized capital stock from 
1,777,400 no par value common shares to 
6,595,214 common shares with P1 par value per 
share. 

May 19,1999 19,970,461 common shares  
These represented dividends declared which was 
approved by the SEC on March 24, 1999. 

May 28, 2012 246,248,212 common shares 
Dividend declared after SEC approval on  
May 28, 2012 of the increase in authorized capital 
stock from P310.00 million to P1.21 billion (including 
P10.00 million preferred shares). 

 
On July 14, 2014, the BOD approved the amendment of the entitlement ratio of stock 
rights offering from 0.58 common share for every one share held to 1 common share 
to every one share held. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023 the Parent Company has 152,692,263 shares 
held by held by the public or 44.29% of the total outstanding capital stock and a total 
of 206 stockholders. The Parent Company has not sold any unregistered securities 
for the past 5 years. 
 
Other Information 
In February 1993, common shares of the Parent Company representing 75% of the 
total issued outstanding shares previously held by Acesite Limited (BVI) (ALB), were 
pledged by ALB in favor of Equitable PCI Bank Hong Kong Group (EPCIB) for the 
latter’s loan to an affiliate of ALB. 
 
On February 17, 2003, EPCIB foreclosed the said shares and sold them to WPI as a 
block sale in the PSE. ALB contested the foreclosure, and on February 20, 2003, 
filed a case for the annulment of the sale, with application for issuance of a writ of 
preliminary injunction and a prayer for a temporary restraining order with the 
Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Makati City. On August 15, 2003, the RTC of Makati 
City granted ALB’s request for preliminary injunction upon posting of the necessary 
injunction bond. 
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On June 3, 2004, for failure of ALB to post the full amount of the injunction bond, the 
RTC of Makati City ordered the stock transfer agent of the Parent Company to 
transfer the 74,889,231 shares to EPCIB and, in accordance with the Deed of 
Assignment of Shares of Stock dated February 17, 2003, the shares were 
transferred to WPI. Subsequently, ALB filed a motion for reconsideration of the order 
dissolving the writ of injunction issued by the RTC of Makati City. 
 
On June 24, 2004, at the annual stockholders’ meeting of the Parent Company 
pursuant to the order of the SEC, WPI, as the registered majority stockholder of 
record, elected new directors to serve as such until the next annual stockholders’ 
meeting.  
 
On August 10, 2004, the Court of Appeals (CA) gave due course to EPCIB’s petition 
and set aside the questioned Orders on ALB request for preliminary injunction bond. 
On the same date, ALB filed a Motion for Reconsideration which the CA denied on 
November 24, 2004. 
 
On December 22, 2004, ALB questioned the said Resolutions of the CA by filing a 
Petition for Review on Certiorari at the Supreme Court (SC). On January 19, 2005, 
the SC denied the Petition for Review on Certiorari on the decision and resolution of 
the CA dated August 10, 2004 and November 24, 2004, respectively, for failure of 
ALB to state the material date showing when notice of judgment thereof was 
received. On March 1, 2005, ALB filed a motion for reconsideration of the said denial 
by the SC. The petition for reconsideration filed by ALB has been denied with finality 
by the SC on March 14, 2005. 
 
In March 2006, ALB commenced proceedings in Hong Kong against EPCIB and WPI 
to pursue its claim. In view of the Memorandum of Agreement signed in July 2011, 
ALB forever renounces its claim against WPI and EPCIB. 
 
Preferred Shares 
The Parent Company’s authorized and unissued preferred shares as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounted to P10.00 million, consisting of  
20,000 shares with a par value of P500 per share. 
 
The Parent Company’s preferred shares have the following attributes: 
 
a. non-voting; 
b. non-convertible to common shares; 
c. redeemable at a premium of 5%; and 
d. entitled to cumulative dividends of 9% per annum. 
 
Treasury Stock 
On November 13, 2007, the BOD approved the creation of a share buyback program 
involving the Parent Company’s common stock. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
the Parent Company has bought back 1,353,058 shares for a total cost of  
P12.04 million. 
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Retained Earnings 
In accordance with Section 42 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines, 
stock corporations are prohibited from retaining surplus profits in excess of one 
hundred (100%) percent of their paid-in capital stock, except: (1) when justified by 
definite corporate expansion projects or programs approved by the BOD; or (2) when 
the corporation is prohibited under any loan agreement with any financial institution 
or creditor, whether local or foreign, from declaring dividends without its/his consent, 
and such consent has not yet been secured; or (3) when it can be clearly shown that 
such retention is necessary under special circumstances obtaining in the corporation, 
such as when there is need for special reserve for probable contingencies. 
 
The Group has retained earnings in excess of the one hundred percent of its paid-in 
capital stock. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, no appropriation has been made. 
 
As discussed in Note 1, the hotel operation has been suspended as the hotel 
building is under ongoing construction as at December 31, 2024. The Company will 
focus its resources to the reconstruction and restoration of the podium and hotel 
building until its completion in 2026. 
 
 

12. Other Costs and Expenses 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  Note 2024 2023 2022 
Bad debts expense 4 P13,197,084 P   -     P   -     
Share in common operating 

expenses  11,272,689 -     284,356 
Taxes and licenses  11,223,078 14,068,860 14,906,295 
Head office and corporate 

costs  10,249,469 1,787,928 47,590 
Security and other services  9,424,986 6,802,012 10,497,597 
Professional fees  6,947,161 1,409,593 2,708,215 
Insurance  5,996,671 5,344,707 4,355,000 
Data processing  1,261,265 1,324,555 1,323,241 
Representation and 

entertainment   856,037 573,152 15,234 
Directors’ fees  740,127 -     668,059 
Repairs and maintenance  201,591 1,054,107 1,077,589 
Advertising  120,294 276,891 317,869 
Supplies 5 107,133 99,731 258,933 
Transportation and travel  48,570 147,160 180,194 
Communications  40,737 258,452 248,629 
Other services  -     339,597 -     
Rent  -     289,474 415,441 
Meeting expenses  -     628,036 -     
Miscellaneous  379,980 72,494 245,575 
  P72,066,872 P34,476,749 P37,549,817 

 
Share in common operating expenses pertains to allocated corporate costs incurred 
by the Parent Company and chargeable to the Company. 
 
Miscellaneous includes recruitment expense, donations, and employee association 
dues. 
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13. Financing Income (Charges) - net 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 
Interest income 11, 17 P4,362,336 P3,063,281 P6,626,267 
Other Income  124,524 -     -     
Bank charges  (2,091) (2,887) (2,570) 
  P4,484,769 P3,060,394 P6,623,697 

 
 

14. Retirement Benefits Cost 
 
The Group has a funded, noncontributory retirement plan (the Plan) covering 
substantially all of its regular employees with at least five years of continuous 
service. The retirement benefits are based on percentage of the employees’ final 
monthly salary for every year of continuous service depending on the length of stay. 
Contributions and costs are determined in accordance with the actuarial studies 
made for the Plan. 
 
The latest independent actuarial valuation of the Plan was as at December 31, 2024, 
which was prepared using the projected unit credit method. The Plan is administered 
by independent trustees (the Retirement Plan Trustee) with assets held consolidated 
from those of the Company. 
 
The Plan is registered with the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) as a tax-qualified 
plan under Republic Act (R.A.) No. 4917, As Amended, Retirement Pay Law. 
 
The Plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest rate 
risk and market (investment) risk. 
 
The reconciliation of the present value of the DBO and the FVPA to the recognized 
liability presented as “Retirement benefits liability” in the consolidated statements of 
financial position is as follows: 
 

2024 FVPA DBO 

Retirement 
Benefits 
Liability 

At January 1 P3,412,720 (P9,342,420) (P5,929,700) 
Included in Profit or Loss    
Current service cost -     (706,472) (706,472) 
Net interest income (cost) 206,128 (564,282) (358,154) 
 206,128 (1,270,754) (1,064,626) 

Included in OCI    
Remeasurement gains:    
1. Actuarial gains (losses) arising from:    
 Financial assumptions -     77,721 77,721 
 Demographic assumptions -     428,087 428,087 
 Experience adjustments (100,065) -     (100,065) 

2. Return on plan assets excluding 
interest income (100,065) 505,808 405,743 

    

Benefits paid (973,158) 973,158 -     
Contributions paid -     -     -     
Transferred obligation -     -     -     
At December 31 P2,545,625 (P9,134,208) (P6,588,583) 
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2023 FVPA DBO 

Retirement 
Benefits 
Liability 

At January 1 P3,871,074 (P8,297,644) (P4,426,570) 
Included in Profit or Loss    
Current service cost -     (804,391) (804,391) 
Net interest income (cost) 273,685 (632,462) (358,777) 
 273,685 (1,436,853) (1,163,168) 

Included in OCI    
Remeasurement gains:    
1. Actuarial gains (losses) arising from:    
 Financial assumptions -     (882,594) (882,594) 
 Demographic assumptions -     -     -     
 Experience adjustments -     1,123,097 1,123,097 

2. Return on plan assets excluding 
interest income (732,039) -     (732,039) 

 (732,039) 240,503 (491,536) 

Benefits paid (120,949)    120,949 -     
Contributions paid 120,949 -     120,949 
Transferred obligation -     30,625 30,625 
At December 31 P3,412,720 (P9,342,420) (P5,929,700) 

 
Retirement benefits expense is included in “Personnel” account in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
The personnel account comprise the following: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 
Salaries and wages P17,964,512 P23,034,906 P19,926,204 
Retirement benefits expense 1,064,626 1,163,168 1,154,682 
Other employee benefits 3,534,392 827,824 730,194 
 P22,563,530 P25,025,898 P21,811,080 

 
The Group’s plan assets consist of the following: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 
Cash and cash equivalents P1,007,527 P1,622,102 P2,481,934 
Debt instruments - government 

bonds 1,514,630 1,771,361 746,883 
Unit investment trust funds -     -     587,604 
Others   105,292 19,257 54,653 
 P2,627,449 P3,412,720 P3,871,074 
Accrued trust fees payable (81,824) -     -     
 P2,545,625 P3,412,720 P3,871,074 

 
Asset-liability Matching 
The Retirement Plan Trustee has no specific matching strategy between the plan 
assets and the plan liabilities. 
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Funding Policy 
The Group is not required to pre-fund the future defined benefit liability under the 
Plan before they become due. For this reason, the amount and timing of 
contributions to the Plan are at the Group’s discretion. However, in the event a 
benefit claim arises and the Plan is insufficient to pay the claim, the shortfall will then 
be due and payable from the Group to the employee. Hence, there is no expected 
contribution to the Plan in 2025. 
 
The December 31 actuarial valuation uses these principal actuarial assumptions at 
the reporting date: 
 
 2024 2023 
Discount rate 6.04% 7.07% 
Future salary increases 3.00% 3.00% 

 
Assumptions regarding the mortality and disability rates are based on the 2001 CSO 
Table - Generational (Scale AA, Society of Actuaries) and the Disability Study, 
Period 2, Benefit 5 (Society of Actuaries), respectively. 
 
The weighted-average duration of the DBO is 7.96 years and 7.46 years as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Maturity analysis of the benefit payments over the period of 10 years as at  
December 31 follows: 
 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Within 
1 Year 

Within 
1 - 5 Years 

Within 
6 - 10 Years 

2024 P9,134,208 P8,022,962 P324,150 P3,980,769 P3,718,043 

2023 P9,373,044 P10,174,206 P374,690 P3,947,591 P5,851,925 

2022 P8,297,644 P10,259,672 P519,348 P2,047,256 P7,693,068 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial 
assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have increased 
(decreased) the DBO by the amounts shown below: 
 
2024 + 1% - 1% 
Discount rate  (P804,520) P909,128 
Expected rate of salary increases 938,522 (851,602) 

 
2023 + 1% - 1% 
Discount rate  (P858,568) P975,548 
Expected rate of salary increases 1,004,493 (905,517) 

 
2022 + 1% - 1% 
Discount rate  (P858,568) P975,548 
Expected rate of salary increases 1,004,493 (905,517) 
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15. Income Taxes 
 
The components of the income tax benefit are as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 
Current  P698,427 P33,255 P35,425 
Deferred (5,159,618) (5,298,315) (5,165,892) 
 (P4,461,191) (P5,265,060) (P5,130,467) 

 
The reconciliation of the income tax benefit computed at the statutory tax rate to the 
actual benefit shown in profit or loss is as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 
Loss before income tax benefit (P81,705,331) (P80,189,103) (P77,987,681) 

Statutory tax rate for income 
tax expense 20%/25% 20%/25% 20%/25% 

Income tax benefits   (P20,426,333) (P19,496,920) (P19,496,920) 
Additions to (reductions in)  

income tax due to the effects of:    
Unrecognized deferred tax 

asset on NOLCO and MCIT 13,515,755 15,133,597 15,133,597 
Nondeductible expenses 232,759 3,809 3,809 
Interest income already 

subjected to final tax (4,523) (770,953) (770,953) 
Other 2,221,151 -     -     

 (P4,461,191) (P5,130,467) (P5,130,467) 
 
The movements of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows: 
 

December 31, 2024 
Balance 

January 1, 2024 
Recognized 

in Profit or Loss 
Recognized  

in OCI 

Balance 
December 31,  

2023 
Deferred tax liability:     

Revaluation surplus on property and 
equipment P203,649,490 (P4,892,150) P   -     P198,757,340 

Deferred tax assets:     
Retirement benefits liability 1,482,424 266,158 (101,436) 1,647,146 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (3,801) 1,310 -     (2,491) 

 1,478,623 267,468 (101,436) 1,644,655 

 P202,170,867 (P5,159,618) P101,436 P197,112,685 

 

December 31, 2023 
Balance 

January 1, 2023 
Recognized 

in Profit or Loss 
Recognized  

in OCI 

Balance 
December 31,  

2023 
Deferred tax liability:     

Revaluation surplus on property and 
equipment P208,827,941 (P5,178,451) P   -     P203,649,490 

Deferred tax assets:     
Retirement benefits liability 1,481,643 123,665 (122,884) 1,482,424 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss -     (3,801) -     (3,801) 

 1,481,643 119,864 (122,884) 1,478,623 

 P207,346,298 (P5,298,315) P122,884 P202,170,867 
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December 31, 2022 
Balance 

January 1, 2022 
Recognized 

in Profit or Loss 
Recognized  

in OCI 

Balance 
December 31,  

2022 
Deferred tax liability:     

Revaluation surplus on property and 
equipment P213,720,091 (P4,892,150) P   -     P208,827,941 

Deferred tax assets:     
Retirement benefits liability 1,303,093 288,671 (110,121) 1,481,643 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 14,929 (14,929) -     -     

 1,318,022 273,742 (110,121) 1,481,643 

 P212,402,069 (P5,165,892) P110,121 P207,346,298 

 
Deferred tax assets in respect of possible future taxable benefit arising from NOLCO 
and MCIT are not recognized because management has assessed that the future 
taxable profits will not be available against which the Group can utilize the benefits 
thereon. 
 
Details of the Parent Company’s NOLCO are as follows: 
 

Year Incurred Amount Applied Expired Balance Expiry Year 
2024 P51,616,868 P   -     P   -     P51,616,868 2027 
2023 18,627,924 -     -     18,627,924 2026 
2022 14,483,139 -     -     14,483,139 2025 
2021 59,520,608 -     -     59,520,608 2026 

 P144,248,539 P   -     P   -     P144,248,539  

 
Details of the Subsidiary’s NOLCO are as follows: 
 

Year 
Incurred Amount Applied Expired Balance Expiry Year 

2021 P2,887,194 P   -     P    -     P2,887,194 2026 

 
Details of the Parent Company’s MCIT are as follows: 
 

Year Incurred Amount Applied Expired Balance Expiry Year 
2024 P611,539 P   -     P   -        P611,539     2027 
2023 33,255 -     -     33,255 2026 
2021 35,425 -     -     35,425 2025 
2020 33,387 -     (33,387) -     2024 

 P713,606 P   -     (P33,387) P680,219  

 
 

16. Loss Per Share 
 
Loss per share (LPS) is computed by dividing the net loss for the year by the 
weighted average number of outstanding shares of common stock during the year. 
 
 2024 2023 2022 
Net loss (P76,939,833) (P74,924,043) (P72,857,214) 
Weighted average number of 

outstanding shares of 
common stock (net of 
treasury stock) 344,747,520 344,747,520 344,747,520 

LPS - basic/diluted (P0.22) (P0.22) (P0.21) 
 
There are no potential dilutive common shares for the years ended  
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.  
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17. Financial Instruments - Risk Management and Fair Values 
 
Risk Management Structure 
BOD 
The BOD is mainly responsible for the overall risk management approach and for the 
approval of risk strategies and principles of the Group. It also has the overall 
responsibility for the development of risk strategies, principles, frameworks, policies 
and limits. It establishes a forum of discussion of the Group’s approach to risk issues 
in order to make relevant decisions. 
 
Risk Management Committee 
Risk Management Committee is responsible for the comprehensive monitoring, 
evaluation and analysis of the Group’s risks in line with the policies and limits set by 
the BOD. 
 
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
The Group’s principal financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and other current receivables, note receivable, due from a related party, equity 
securities - at FVOCI, other deposits (presented under “Other noncurrent assets”), 
trade and other current payables (excluding statutory payables), due to related 
parties and retention payables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to 
finance the Group’s operations.  
 
The main risks arising from the financial instruments of the Group are credit risk, 
liquidity risk, market risk and equity price risk. The Group’s management reviews and 
approves policies for managing each of these risks, as summarized below. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally 
from the Group’s trade and other current receivables. There has been no change to 
the Group’s exposure to credit risk or the manner in which it manages and measures 
the risk since prior financial year. 
 
The Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s 
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. The Group grants advances to its related parties after the BOD 
reassesses the Group’s strategies for managing credits and views that they remain 
appropriate for the Group’s circumstances. 
 
The amounts presented in the consolidated statements of financial position are net of 
allowances for impairment losses on receivables, estimated by the Group’s 
management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current 
economic environment. 
 
With respect to credit risk from other financial assets of the Group, which comprise of 
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables, note receivable, due 
from a related party, equity securities - at FVOCI and other deposits, the exposure of 
the Group to credit risk arises from the default of the counterparty, with maximum 
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these financial instruments. 
 
At the reporting date, other than the trade and other current receivables and due 
from a related party, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
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The tables below show the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets (amounts are 
in thousands): 
 

 2024 
  At Amortized Cost 

 FVOCI 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime 
ECL - not 

credit 
impaired 

Lifetime  
ECL - credit 

impaired 
Grade A P18,383 P267,936 P   -     P   -     
Grade B -     -     -     -     
Grade C -     -     -     -     
Gross carrying amount 18,383 267,936 -     -     
Loss allowance -     (33,108) -     -     
Carrying amount P18,383 P234,828 P   -     P   -     

 
 2023 
  At Amortized Cost 

 FVOCI 
12-month 

ECL 

Lifetime 
ECL - not 

credit 
impaired 

Lifetime  
ECL - credit 

impaired 
Grade A P19,943 P267,936 P   -     P   -     
Grade B -     -     -     -     
Grade C -     -     -     -     
Gross carrying amount 19,943 267,936 -     -     
Loss allowance -     -     -     -     
Carrying amount P19,943 P267,936 P   -     P   -     

 
The credit grades used by the Group in evaluating the credit quality of its receivables 
to customers and other parties are the following: 
 
Grade A financial assets pertain to financial assets that are neither past due nor 
impaired which have good collection status. These financial assets are those which 
have high probability of collection, as evidenced by counterparties having ability to 
satisfy their obligations.  
 
Grade B financial assets are those past due but not impaired financial assets and 
with fair collection status. These financial assets include those for which collections 
are probable due to the reputation and the financial ability to pay of the counterparty 
but have been outstanding for a length of time.  
 
Grade C financial assets are those which have continuous default collection issues. 
These financial assets have counterparties that are most likely not capable of 
honoring their financial obligations 
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As at December 31, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, without 
considering the effects of collateral, credit enhancements and other credit risk 
mitigation techniques are as follows (in thousands): 
 
 Note 2024 2023 
Cash and cash equivalents*  P20,813 P20,419 
Trade and other current receivables  4 55,447 65,120 
Note receivable 10 112,950 107,023 
Due from related parties 10 71,161 75,653  
Equity securities - at FVOCI 10 18,382 19,943 
Other deposits 8 7,540 7,540 
  286,293 295,698 
Less allowance for impairment losses   4 78,421 19,911 
  P207,872 P275,787 

*Excluding cash on hand 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 
 
 2024 2023 
Cash on hand P70,000 P50,000 
Cash in banks 20,813,077 20,419,058 
 P20,883,077 P20,469,058 

 
Cash in banks earn interest based on prevailing deposit rates. 
 
Related interest income recognized in profit or loss amounted to P0.01 million, P0.02 
million, and P0.01 million in 2024, 2023, and 202 respectively (see Note 15). 
 
The aging analysis of the Group’s financial assets are as follows (in thousands): 
 

  Neither Past Past Due but not Impaired Past Due 

December 31, 2024 Total 
Due nor 

Impaired 
< 30 

Days 
30 - 60 

Days 
61 - 90 

Days 
91 - 120 

Days 
> 120 
Days 

and 
Impaired 

Cash and cash 
equivalents* P20,813 P20,813 P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     

Trade and other 
current receivables  55,447 22,339 -     -     -     -     -     33,108 

Note receivable 112,950 112,950 -     -     -     -     -     -     
Due from a related 

parties 71,161 71,161 -     -     -     -     -     -     
Equity securities -  

at FVOCI 18,383 18,383 -     -     -     -     -     -     
Other deposits 7,540 7,540 -     -     -     -     -     -     
Total P286,294 P253,186 P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P33,108 

 
  Neither Past Past Due but not Impaired Past Due 

December 31, 2023 Total 
Due nor 

Impaired 
< 30 

Days 
30 - 60 

Days 
61 - 90 

Days 
91 - 120 

Days 
> 120 
Days 

and 
Impaired 

Cash and cash 
equivalents* P20,419 P20,419 P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     

Trade and other 
current receivables  126,023 106,112 -     -     -     -     -     19,911 

Note receivable 107,023 107,023 -     -     -     -     -     -     
Due from a related 

parties -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     
Equity securities -  

at FVOCI 19,943 19,943 -     -     -     -     -     -     
Other deposits 7,540 -     -     -     -     -     7,540 -     
Total P287,879 P260,428 P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P7,540 P19,911 

*Excluding cash on hand 

 
Information on the Group’s receivables that are impaired as at December 31, 2024 
and 2023 and the movements in the impairment losses are disclosed in  
Notes 4 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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The main considerations for impairment assessment include whether any payments 
are overdue or if there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of the 
counterparties. The Group assesses impairment in two ways: individual assessment 
and collective assessment. 
 
The Group determines allowance for each significant receivable on an individual 
basis. Among the items that the Group considers in assessing impairment is the 
inability to collect from the counterparty based on the contractual terms of the 
receivables. Receivables included in the specific assessment are the accounts that 
have been endorsed to the legal department, non-moving accounts receivable, 
accounts of defaulted agents and corporate accounts. 
 
For collective assessment, allowances are assessed for receivables that are not 
individually significant and for individually significant receivables where there is no 
objective evidence yet of individual impairment. Impairment losses are estimated by 
taking into consideration the age of the receivables, past collection experience and 
other factors that may affect collectability. 
 
The total impairment losses on the financial assets recognized in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted to P13.2 
million, nil, and nil in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively (see Notes 4 and 11), which 
were determined and measured through the Company’s individual assessment 
procedures. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due because of an inability to liquidate assets or obtain adequate funding. 
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 
maturities of the financial assets and financial liabilities. There has been no change 
to the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk or the manner in which it manages and 
measures the risk since prior financial year. 
 
The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash deemed adequate by the 
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of 
fluctuations in cash flows. Additional short-term funding is obtained through related 
party advances and short-term bank loans, when necessary. 
 
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the BOD, which has 
built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the 
Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. 
 
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that 
it will always have adequate funding available at all times to meet its liabilities when 
due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group manages liquidity risk 
by maintaining adequate reserves, continuously monitoring forecasts and actual 
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
 
For the Group’s short-term funding, the Group’s policy is to ensure that there are 
sufficient working capital inflows to match repayments of short-term debt. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

- 25 - 

The following tables summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities 
based on contractual undiscounted payments (in thousands): 
 

   Contractual Undiscounted Payments 

December 31, 2024 Note 
Total Carrying 

Amount Total 
On 

Demand 
Less than  

1 Year 
1 to 5 
Years 

Trade and other 
current payables*  9 P316,831 P316,831 P   -     P316,831 P   -     

Due to related parties 10 536,035 536,035 536,035 -     -     
Retention payables  88,488 88,488 88,488 -     -     
  P941,354 P941,354 P624,523 P316,831 P88,488 

*Excluding statutory payables 
 

   Contractual Undiscounted Payments 

December 31, 2023 Note 
Total Carrying 

Amount Total 
On 

Demand 
Less than  

1 Year 
1 to 5 
Years 

Trade and other 
current payables*  9 P319,205 P319,205 P5,316 P313,889 P   -     

Due to related parties 10 511,916 511,916 511,916 -     -     
Retention payables  88,381 88,381 88,381 -     -     
  P919,502 P919,502 P605,613 P313,889 P   -     

*Excluding statutory payables 
 
Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument of the 
Group will fluctuate due to change in market prices. Market risk reflects interest rate 
risk, foreign currency risk, and other price risks. 
 
The Group is primarily exposed to the financial risk of changes in equity prices of its 
equity securities - at FVOCI. The Group is not significantly exposed to changes in 
interest and foreign currency exchange rates.  
 
Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors 
specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all 
similar financial instruments traded in the market. 
 
The Group is exposed to equity price risk because of its investment in shares of 
stock of WII which are listed on the PSE totaling to 86.71 million shares as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
The Group monitors the changes in the price of the shares of stock of WII. In 
managing its price risk, the Group disposes of existing or acquires additional shares 
based on the economic conditions. 
 
The sensitivity of the Group’s equity to a reasonably possible change in equity price. 
These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on past equity price 
performance of the Group’s equity security - at FVOCI and macroeconomic forecast 
for 2024 and 2023. This analysis assumes an increase of 10% for 2024 and 2023 
and a decrease of 10% for 2024 and 2023 of the equity price of the Group’s equity 
security - at FVOCI. All other variables are held constant. There are no fair value 
change in other comprehensive income in 2024 and 2023. 
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Fair Value Measurement 
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current 
receivables, note receivable, due from a related party, trade and other current 
payables (excluding statutory payables) and due to related parties approximate their 
fair values due to the short-term maturity of these instruments. 
 
The discussions on the fair value of equity security - at FVOCI are disclosed in Note 
10 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The carrying values of other deposits and retention payables approximate their fair 
value because these are not subject to significant risk of change in value.  
 
The approximation of the fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities 
are based on Level 3, except for equity securities - at FVOCI which is based on  
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
 

18. Capital Management  
 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure its ability to 
continue as a going concern and that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged since prior financial year. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of 
changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the dividend payments to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies 
or process in 2024 and 2023. For purposes of the Group’s capital management, 
capital includes all equity items that are presented in the consolidated statements of 
changes in equity, except for revaluation surplus on property and equipment, 
retirement benefits reserve and fair value reserve. 
 
The Group is not subject to externally-imposed capital requirements. 
 
 

19. Significant Contingencies 
 
Legal Cases 
The Parent Company is also a defendant in other legal and labor cases which are 
still pending resolution. Management and its legal counsels believe that the outcome 
of these cases will not have any material effect on the Parent Company’s 
consolidated financial position and results of operations. 
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20. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 
 
Adoption of New or Revised Standards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretations 
The FSRSC approved the adoption of a number of new and amendments to 
standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on January 1, 2024 as 
part of PFRS Accounting Standards. None of these are expected to have a material 
effect on the financial statements.  
 
Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted 
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual 
periods beginning after January 1, 2024. However, the Group has not early adopted 
the following new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements. 
Unless otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have a significant impact on 
the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Effective January 1, 2025 
 
 Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to PAS 21, The Effects of Changes in 

Foreign Exchange Rates)  
The amendments clarify that a currency is exchangeable into another currency 
when a company is able to obtain the other currency within a time frame that 
allows for a normal administrative delay and through a market or exchange 
mechanism in which an exchange transaction would create enforceable rights 
and obligations. 
 
When a currency is not exchangeable, a company needs to estimate a spot rate. 
The objective in estimating the spot rate is to reflect the rate at which an orderly 
exchange transaction would take place at the measurement date between 
market participants under prevailing economic conditions. The amendments do 
not specify how to estimate the spot exchange rate to meet the objective and an 
entity can use an observable exchange rate without adjustment or another 
estimation technique. 
 
The amendments require new disclosures to help users assess the impact of 
using an estimated exchange rate on the financial statements, including the 
nature and financial impacts of the currency not being exchangeable, the spot 
exchange rate used, the estimation process, and risks to the company because 
the currency is not exchangeable. 
 
The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
January 1, 2025. Earlier application is permitted. Comparative information is not 
restated and the effect of initially applying the amendments are adjusted to the 
opening balance of retained earnings, or to the cumulative amount of translation 
differences if the company uses a presentation currency other than its functional 
currency. 
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Effective January 1, 2026 
 
 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments 

(Amendments to PFRS 9 Financial Instruments and PFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures) 
The amendments relate to the date of recognition and derecognition, 
classification of financial assets, contractually linked instruments and  
non-recourse features, and disclosures on investments in equity instruments. 
 
Date of recognition and derecognition. The amendments clarified that: 
 
• a financial asset or financial liability is recognized on the date on which the 

entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument unless 
the regular way exemption applies; 

• a financial asset is derecognized on the date on which the contractual rights 
to cash flows expire or the asset is transferred; and 

• a financial liability is derecognized on the settlement date, which is the date 
on which the liability is extinguished because the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged or cancelled or expires or the liability otherwise 
qualifies for derecognition. 

 
However, the amendments provide an exception for the derecognition of financial 
liabilities where an entity may choose to derecognize a financial liability that is 
settled using an electronic payment system before the settlement date if, and 
only if, the entity has initiated the payment instruction that resulted in: 
 
• the entity having no practical ability to withdraw, stop or cancel the payment 

instruction; 
• the entity having no practical ability to access the cash to be used for 

settlement as a result of the payment instruction; and 
• the settlement risk associated with the electronic payment system is 

insignificant. 
 
Entities may choose to apply the exception on a system-by-system basis. 
 
Classification of financial assets. The amendments related to classification of 
financial assets introduces an additional test to assess whether the solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) criterion is met for financial assets with 
contingent features that are not related directly to a change in basic lending risks 
or costs. 
 
The amendments clarified that when a contingent feature gives rise to 
contractual cash flows that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement both 
before and after the change in contractual cash flows, but the nature of the 
contingent event itself does not relate directly to changes in basic lending risks 
and costs, the financial asset has contractual cash flows that are SPPI if, and 
only if, in all contractually possible scenarios, the contractual cash flows would 
not be significantly different from the contractual cash flows on a financial 
instrument with identical contractual terms, but without such a contingent feature. 
 
Additional disclosures are required for all financial assets and financial liabilities 
that have certain contingent features that are not related directly to a change in 
basic lending risks or costs and are not measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
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Contractually linked instruments and non-recourse features. The amendments 
clarify the key characteristics of contractually linked instruments (CLIs) and how 
they differ from financial assets with non-recourse features. The amendments 
also include factors that a company needs to consider when assessing the cash 
flows underlying a financial asset with non-recourse features (the ‘look through’ 
test). For example, it clarifies that a financial asset has non-recourse features if 
an entity's ultimate right to receive cash flows is contractually limited to the cash 
flows generated by specified assets; that CLIs have non-recourse features, but 
not all financial assets with non-recourse features are CLIs; and that the 
underlying pool of instruments of CLIs may include financial assets outside the 
scope of IFRS 9. 
 
Disclosures on investments in equity instruments. The amendments require 
additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments that are measured at 
fair value with gains or losses presented in other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). The entity discloses for each class of investment the fair value gain or 
loss presented in other comprehensive income during the period, showing 
separately the fair value gain or loss related to investments derecognized during 
the reporting period and the fair value gain or loss related to investments held at 
the end of the reporting period. It also discloses any transfers of the cumulative 
gain or loss within equity during the reporting period related to investments 
derecognized during that reporting period. 
 
The amendments apply for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2026. Earlier application is permitted. Entities may choose to early-adopt the 
amendments for the recognition and derecognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities separately from the other amendments. 

 
Effective January 1, 2027 
 
 PFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements will replace PAS 1 

Presentation of Financial Statements and aims to provide greater consistency in 
presentation of the income and cash flow statements, and more disaggregated 
information  
 
• A more structured income statement. PFRS 18 promotes a more structured 

income statement. It introduces a newly defined ‘operating profit or loss’ and 
‘profit or loss before financing and income tax’ subtotals, and a requirement 
for all income and expenses to be classified into three new distinct  
categories - operating, investing, and financing - based on a company’s main 
business activities. PFRS 18 also requires companies to analyze their 
operating expenses directly on the face of the income statement - either by 
nature, by function or on a mixed basis. Companies need to choose the 
presentation method that provides the ‘most useful structured summary’ of 
those expenses. New disclosures apply if any operating expenses are 
presented by function. 

• Management-defined performance measures. PFRS 18 provides a definition 
for management-defined performance measures (MPMs) and introduces 
specific disclosure requirements. MPMs are subtotals of income and 
expenses that are used in public communications outside the financial 
statements, communicate management's view of an aspect of the financial 
performance of the entity as a whole and are not a required subtotal or a 
common income and expense subtotal listed in PFRS 18. For each MPM 
presented, companies will need to explain in a single note to the financial 
statements why the measure provides useful information and how it is 
calculated, and to reconcile it to an amount determined under PFRS 
Accounting Standards. 
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• Greater disaggregation of information. PFRS 18 provides enhanced guidance 
on how companies group information in the financial statements, including 
newly defined roles of the primary financial statements and the notes, 
principles of aggregation and disaggregation based on shared and non-
shared characteristics, and specific guidance for labelling and describing 
items in a way that faithfully represents an item’s characteristics.  

 
PFRS 18 also now require goodwill to be presented as a line item in the 
statement of financial position.  
 
Consequential amendments to PAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows requires the use 
of the operating profit or loss subtotal as the starting point when presenting 
operating cash flows under the indirect method and eliminate the options for 
classifying interest and dividend cash flows.  
 
PFRS 18 also amends PAS 33 Earnings per Share to permit companies to 
disclose additional amounts per share using as numerator a required income and 
expenses total or subtotal, a common subtotal listed in PFRS 18 or an MPM 
disclosed by the entity.  
 
PFRS 18 applies for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2027, with earlier application permitted. It applies retrospectively in accordance 
with PAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 
Specific reconciliations are required to be disclosed. Eligible entities including 
venture capital organizations, mutual funds and some insurers will be allowed to 
change their election for measuring investments in associates and joint ventures 
from equity method to fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The Group is still assessing the impact of this standard. 
 

 PFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures permits a 
subsidiary to apply the requirements of PFRS Accounting Standards with the 
reduced disclosure requirements of PFRS 19 in its consolidated, separate or 
individual financial statements provided that, at the reporting date: 
 
• it does not have public accountability, and. 
• it has an ultimate or intermediate parent that produces consolidated financial 

statements available for public use that comply with PFRS Accounting 
Standards.  

 
Eligible subsidiaries may apply the standard for reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2027. Earlier application is permitted. 

 
Current versus Noncurrent Classification 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position 
based on current and noncurrent classification. An asset is current when it is:  
(a) expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal 
operating cycle; (b) held primarily for the purpose of trading; (c) expected to be 
realized within 12 months after the reporting period; or (d) cash or cash equivalent 
unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least  
12 months after the reporting period. 
 
A liability is current when: (a) expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; 
(b) it is held primarily for trading; (c) it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting period; or (d) there is no right at the end of the reporting period to defer the 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  
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The Group classifies all other assets and liabilities as noncurrent. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent. 
 
Financial Instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
 
Date of Recognition 
Financial instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets on initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates these classifications at 
each reporting date. 
 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade 
date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sale of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the 
market place. 
 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing 
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an 
item not at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant 
financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 
 
Measurement at Initial Recognition 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value of the consideration given 
(in case of an asset) or received (in case of a liability). Except for financial 
instruments at FVTPL, the initial measurement of financial instruments includes 
transaction costs. 
 
Financial Assets 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortized cost, 
FVOCI or FVTPL, based on their contractual cash flow characteristics and the 
business model for managing the financial assets. 
 
Debt Instruments 
Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost 
A financial asset that is a debt instrument, other than those that are designated at 
FVTPL, which meet both of the following conditions: 
 
 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

 
Included in this category are the Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
current receivables, note receivable and due from a related party. 
 
Equity Instruments 
Financial assets that are equity instruments shall be classified under any of the 
following categories: 
 
 Financial assets measured at FVTPL which shall include financial assets held for 

trading; or 



 

- 32 - 

 Financial assets at FVOCI which shall consist of equity instruments that are 
irrevocably designated at FVOCI at initial recognition that are neither held for 
trading nor contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business 
combination to which PFRS 3, Business Combinations, applies. This election is 
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. 

 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group has equity securities - at FVOCI as 
financial assets measured at FVOCI. 
 
Business Model Assessment 
Business model pertains to the manner by which a portfolio of financial assets will be 
managed to generate cash flows such as by collecting contractual cash flows or by 
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets, among others.  
 
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model for the 
financial assets because this best reflects the way the financial assets are managed. 
The information considered includes: 
 
 the stated policies and objectives for the financial assets and the operation of 

those policies in practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses 
on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate 
profile, earning dividend income, matching the duration of the financial assets to 
the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realizing cash 
outflows through the sale of assets; 

 the risks that affect the performance of the business model and how those risks 
are managed; 

 how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is 
based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows 
collected); and 

 the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, 
the reason for such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 

 
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for 
derecognition are not considered for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s 
continuing recognition of the assets. 
 
Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose financial 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 
 
Assessment whether Contractual Cash Flows are SPPI 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the 
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial 
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of 
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the 
assessment, the Group considers: 
 
 contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
 terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate 

features; 
 prepayment and extension features; and 
 terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets 

(e.g. nonrecourse features). 
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Prepayment feature is consistent with the SPPI criterion if the prepayment amount 
substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for 
early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired for a 
discount or premium to its contractual face amount, a feature that permit or requires 
prepayment that an amount that substantially represents the contractual face amount 
plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may include reasonable 
additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this 
criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial 
recognition. 
 
Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets 
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment 
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit 
or loss. 
 
Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 
recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a 
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Amounts recognized in OCI are not 
classified to profit or loss. 
 
Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabilities 
Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Transaction costs are 
deducted from the initial measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities except for 
debt instruments classified at FVTPL. 
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured as follows: 
 
 financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify 

for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies; 
 financial guarantee contracts; 
 commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate; and 
 contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, other financial liabilities at amortized cost 
include trade and other current payables (excluding statutory payables), due to 
related parties and retention payables in the consolidated statement of financial 
position (see Notes 9, 10 and 17). There are no financial liabilities measured at 
FVTPL. 
 
Other Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost  
Issued financial instruments or their components which are not classified as financial 
liabilities at FVTPL are classified as other financial liabilities at amortized cost,  
where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an 
obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder or lender,  
or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash. 
After initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
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Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Financial Assets  
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognized when: 
 
 the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
 the Group retains the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset, but 

has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third 
party; or 

 the Group has transferred its contractual right to receive cash flows from the 
asset or either has: (a) transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or has expired. Where an existing financial liability is 
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 
a new liability, with the difference in the respective carrying amounts recognized in 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in 
the consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
This is generally not the case with master netting agreements, thus, the related 
assets and liabilities are presented at gross amounts in the consolidated statement 
of financial position. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, only due to/from related party transactions were 
offset in the consolidated financial statements. The said accounts were being set-off 
because the management intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Determination and Measurement of Fair Value 
The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at each consolidated 
statements of financial position date. Fair value is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 
 
 In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 

asset or liability. 
 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic best interest. 
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A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market 
participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest 
and best use or by selling it to market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use. 
 
The Group uses valuation technique that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, 
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole: 
 
 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant 

to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable. 
 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant 

to the fair value measurement is unobservable. 
 
For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
financial position on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfer have 
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at 
the end of each reporting period. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets 
Impairment of Financial Instruments  
At the date of initial application of PFRS 9, the Group uses reasonable and 
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort to determine the 
credit risk at the date that a financial instrument was initially recognized and 
compared that to the credit risk at the date of initial application. 
 
Lifetime ECLs result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instruments while 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from 
default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date  
(or a shorter period of the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). 
 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual 
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 
 
Movement of ECLs 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are 
measured as the present value of cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the 
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 
the Group expects to receive). 
 
ECLs are discounted at the EIR of the financial assets. 
 
Credit-impaired Financial Assets 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at 
amortized cost are credit-impaired. The financial asset is “credit impaired” when one 
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial assets have occurred. 
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Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable 
data: 
 
 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
 a breach of contract such as default or being more than the normal credit terms 

of the Group; 
 the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group 

would not consider otherwise; 
 it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganization; or 
 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial 

difficulties. 
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from 
the gross carrying amount of the assets. 
 
Segment Reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business 
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues 
and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity), 
whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating 
decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 
 
The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information 
that is internally provided to the BOD, who is the Group’s chief operating decision 
maker. The Group assessed that its hotel operations represent one segment. 
Accordingly, the Group does not present segment information in these consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and NRV. Cost comprises all cost of 
purchase and other direct costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.  
 
NRV represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. NRV of operating supplies and 
engineering and maintenance supplies is the estimated replacement cost. 
 
Prepaid Expenses 
Prepaid expenses represent expenses not yet incurred but are already paid.  
Prepaid expenses are initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount of 
cash paid. Subsequent to initial recognition, these are charged to profit or loss as 
they are consumed in operations or expire with the passage of time. 
 
Prepaid expenses are classified in the consolidated statement of financial position as 
current assets when the cost of goods or services related to the prepayment are 
expected to be incurred within one year or the Group’s normal operating cycle, 
whichever is longer. Otherwise, they are classified as noncurrent assets. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Measurement at Recognition 
Upon recognition, items of property and equipment are measured at cost which 
comprises the purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset 
to the location and condition for its intended use. For land which is acquired as part 
of business combination, it is originally measured at deemed cost (fair value at the 
acquisition date). No depreciation is provided on land. 



 

- 37 - 

Measurement Subsequent to Recognition 
Operating equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
 
Hotel building and furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at revalued amounts, 
being the fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Fair values are 
determined through the appraisal of an independent firm of appraisers. Revaluations 
are made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of the 
reporting period. 
 
Any increase in the carrying amount resulting from a revaluation (revaluation 
increase) is recognized in OCI and accumulated in equity. However, the increase 
shall be recognized in profit or loss to the extent that the increase reverses a 
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Any decrease in the carrying amount resulting from a revaluation (revaluation 
decrease) is recognized in profit or loss. However, the decrease shall be recognized 
in OCI to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in 
respect of that asset. The decrease recognized in OCI reduces the amount 
accumulated in equity. 
 
Subsequent Costs 
Subsequent costs that can be measured reliably are added to the carrying amount of 
the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset 
will flow to the Group. The costs of day-to-day servicing of an asset are recognized 
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets as follows: 
 

 Number of Years 
Hotel building 15 - 50 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 - 5 

 
The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting date to 
ensure that such useful lives and depreciation method are consistent with the 
expected pattern of economic benefits from those assets.  
 
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use 
and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of those assets. 
 
Construction-in-progress is stated at cost. This includes cost of construction, 
equipment and other direct costs. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated until 
such time the relevant assets are completed and put into operational use. 
 
When an asset is disposed of, or is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from its disposal, the cost and accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, if any, are removed from the accounts and any 
resulting gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal is recognized in profit or 
loss. 
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Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The carrying amount of the Group’s property and equipment is reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the impaired asset is estimated. 
 
An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its 
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognized in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of the said asset. 
 
The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and value in use. Fair value less cost of disposal is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date, less the costs of disposal. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset being evaluated. If an asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized. Reversals of impairments are recognized in profit or loss, unless the 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a 
revaluation increase. 
 
After such reversal, the depreciation expense is adjusted in future years to allocate 
the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis 
over its remaining life. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
The Group's business is primarily engaged in offering hotel rooms and facilities such 
as restaurants, function halls, coffee shops and all adjuncts and accessories thereto.  
 
The Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a product or service to 
a customer. Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract 
with a customer.  
 
The following is a description of principal activities from which the Group generates 
its revenue. Revenue is disaggregated by major products/service lines as reflected in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Hotel Rooms and Function Halls  
Revenue from hotel rooms and function halls is recognized at the point in time when 
control of the asset is transferred to a customer, generally on actual occupancy.  
The normal credit terms for lease of hotel rooms and function halls is 30 days, when 
payment is made on credit.  
 
Food and Beverage 
Revenue from food and beverage is recognized at the point in time when the goods 
have been delivered.  
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Rent and Related Income 
Rental income on leased areas of the Group is accounted for on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 
 
Other Operating Departments 
Revenue from other operating departments is recognized at the point in time when 
the service has been rendered. This includes guest, laundry and valet, parking fees, 
among others. 
 
Interest Income 
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis on the principal outstanding 
and at the rate applicable. 
 
Other Income  
Other income is recognized at the point in time when the service has been rendered. 
 
Determination of whether the Group is Acting as a Principal or an Agent 
The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against the following criteria to 
determine whether it is acting as a principal or an agent: 
 
 whether the Group has primary responsibility for providing the goods and 

services; and 
 whether the Group has discretion in establishing prices. 
 
If the Group has determined it is acting as a principal, the Group recognizes revenue 
on a gross basis with the amount remitted to the other party being accounted as part 
of costs and expenses. If the Group has determined it is acting as agent, only the net 
amount retained is recognized as revenue. 
 
The Group assessed its revenue arrangements and concluded that it is acting as 
principal in all arrangements. 
 
Cost and Expense Recognition 
Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the service or 
at the date they are incurred. Interest expense is recognized in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred using the effective interest method. 
 
Income Taxes   
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognized in 
OCI or directly in equity, in which case they are recognized respectively therein. 
 
The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, 
including uncertain tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and 
therefore accounted for them under PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets. 
 
Current Tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and 
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 
Current tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and 
not in profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
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Deferred Tax 
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at 
the financial reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred tax, however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit or loss nor taxable profit 
or loss. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are not provided on nontaxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in domestic subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint 
ventures. With respect to investments in other subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, deferred tax liabilities are recognized except when the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period 
and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. It is probable that 
sufficient future taxable profits will be available against which a deductible temporary 
difference can be utilized when there are sufficient taxable temporary difference 
relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity which are 
expected to reverse in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible 
temporary difference. In such circumstances, the deferred tax asset is recognized in 
the period in which the deductible temporary difference arises. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rate and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognized in OCI or directly in equity is recognized in 
the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income and consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and not in profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current income tax assets against current income tax 
liabilities and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current income tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into PHP using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of such transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to their PHP equivalents using the 
rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. 
 
Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in profit or loss.   
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Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
transactions. Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.  
 
Employee Benefits 
Short-term Employee Benefits 
Short-term employee benefit obligations, such as those for salaries and wages, 
social security contributions, short-term compensated absences, bonuses and  
non-monetary benefits, among others, are measured on an undiscounted basis and 
are expensed as the related service is provided. 
 
Retirement Benefits Costs 
The Group’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit plan is calculated by 
estimating the amount of the future benefit that employees have earned in the 
current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any 
plan assets. 
 
The calculation of DBO is performed on a periodic basis by a qualified actuary using 
the PUCM. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, the 
recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the 
form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the 
plan.   
 
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains 
and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset 
ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately in OCI and presented 
under Retirement benefits reserves under equity. The Group determines the net 
interest expense on the net defined benefit liability for the period by applying the 
discount rate used to measure the DBO at the beginning of the annual period to the 
then net defined benefit liability, taking into account any changes in the net defined 
liability during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments.  
Net interest expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit plan are 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting 
change in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss.  
 
The Group recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan 
when the settlement occurs. 
 
Related Party Relationship 
A related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or 
indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Such 
relationships also exist between and/or among entities which are under common 
control with the reporting enterprise, or between, and/or among the reporting 
enterprise and its KMP, directors, or its stockholders. In considering each possible 
related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, 
and not merely the legal form. 
 
Capital Stock 
Capital stock is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of capital stock and share options are recognized as deduction from equity, 
net of any tax effects. 
 



 

- 42 - 

Preferred share capital is classified as equity if it is non-redeemable, or redeemable 
only at the option of the Parent Company, or if the dividend payments are 
discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized as distributions within equity upon 
approval by the BOD of the Parent Company.  
 
Retained Earnings 
Retained earnings include accumulated results of operations as reported in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income less any 
dividends declared. Dividends are recorded in the period in which the dividends are 
approved by the BOD. 
 
Treasury Stock 
The Group’s shares which are reacquired and held by the Group are deducted from 
equity and accounted for at weighted average cost. No gain or loss is recognized in 
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s shares. 
When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is 
recognized as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the 
transaction is transferred to or from retained earnings. 
 
(LPS) EPS 
Basic EPS/LPS is determined by dividing net income or loss for the year by the 
weighted average number of common shares subscribed and issued during the year, 
after retroactive adjustment for any stock dividend and stock splits declared during 
the year. Diluted EPS/LPS is computed in the same manner as the aforementioned, 
except that all outstanding convertible preferred shares are further assumed to have 
been converted to common stock at the beginning of the period or at the time of 
issuance during the year. 
 
Provisions and Contingencies 
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that a 
transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized as liabilities, but are disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources is 
remote. Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Events After the Reporting Period 
The Group identifies post-yearend events as events that occurred after the reporting 
date but before the date when the consolidated financial statements were authorized 
for issue. Any post-yearend events that provide additional information on conditions 
that existed at the end of a reporting period (adjusting events) are recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements. Events that are not adjusting events are disclosed 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material. 
 



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

As of December 31, 2024 
 
 

Ratio Formula 2024 2023 
Current ratio Total Current Assets divided by Total Current Liabilities 

 
Total Current Assets                                    P251,000,569 
Divided by: Total Current Liabilities               871,757,497 
Current ratio                                                                0.29 
 

29% 54% 

Acid test ratio Quick assets (Total Current Assets less Inventories and 
Other Current Assets) divided by Total Current Liabilities 
 
Total Current Assets                                    P251,000,569 
Less: Inventories                                                   762,424 
Other current assets                                        22,904,976  
Quick assets                                                P227,333,170 
Divided by: Total Current Liabilities                871,757,497 
Acid test ratio                                                               0.26 

26% 30% 

Solvency ratio Net Income After Tax plus Non-cash Expenses divided by 
Total Liabilities 
 
Net Income After Tax                                    (P77,244,140) 
Add: Non-Cash Expenses                                16,260,927 
After-tax Net Operating Income                    (P60,983,213) 
Divided by: Total Liabilities                          1,163,946,281 
Solvency ratio                                                             -0.05 
 

-5% -5% 

Debt-to-
equity ratio 

Total Liabilities divided by Shareholder’s Equity 
 
Total Liabilities                                           P1,163,946,281 
Divided by Shareholder’s Equity                  1,713,535,467 
Debt-to-equity ratio                                                      0.68 
 

68% 63% 

Asset-to-
equity ratio 

Total assets divided by Shareholder’s Equity 
 
Total assets                                                P2,877,481,359 
Divided by: Shareholder’s Equity                 1,713,535,467 
Asset-to-equity ratio                                                     1.68 
 

168% 163% 

Return on 
equity 

Net loss divided by Shareholder’s Equity 
 
Net Loss                                                       (P77,244,140) 
Divided by: Shareholder’s Equity                1,713,535,467 
Return on Equity                                                      -0.05% 
 

-5% -4% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Ratio Formula 2024 2023 

Return on 
assets 

Net Income divided by Average Total Assets 
 
Net Loss                                                              (P77,244,140) 
Divided by: Average Total Asset 

Beginning Balance, asset                             P2,925,078,600 
Add: Ending Balance, asset                            2,877,481,928 

                                                                         P5,802,560,528 
Divided by:                                                          2,901,280,264 
Return on asset                                                              -0.03% 
 

-3% -3% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ANNEX A 
 

 

RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE  
FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION 

FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
8th Floor, Manila Pavilion Hotel 

United Nations Avenue, Ermita, Manila 

 
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, beginning of 

the reporting period  P1,177,136,784 
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted  1,177,136,784 
Add/Less: Net loss  (78,499,599) 
Adjusted Net Income/Loss  (78,499,599) 
Add: Category D: Non-actual losses recognized in 

profit or loss during the reporting period  
(net of tax)   
Depreciation on revaluation increment (after tax) P14,676,450 14,676,450 

Less: Category F: Other items that should be 
excluded from the determination of available 
for dividend distribution   
Others 4,636,126 4,636,126 

Total Retained Earnings, end of the reporting 
period available for dividend  P1,108,677,509 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR FEE-RELATED 

INFORMATION 
December 31, 2024 

 
 
 

 2024 2023 
Total Audit Fees 

Audit of financial statements P602,500 P545,000 
Total non-audit services fees:   
Financial statement word 

processing Included in the audit fee Included in the audit fee 
Audit and non-audit fees of 

related parties:   
Audit fees -     -     
Non-audit services Included in the audit fee Included in the audit fee 
Total fees P602,500 P545,000 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE REQUIRED UNDER THE REVISED SRC 

RULE 68 
Map of Conglomerate 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
*nonoperating entities

Waterfront Philippines, Incorporated 
56% 

(Immediate and Ultimate Parent) 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

Table of Contents 
 

Supplementary Schedules 
Required Under the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 

December 31, 2024 
 

   Page 
    
A.  Financial Assets   2 
    
B. Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related 

Parties and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties).  3 
    
C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are Eliminated 

during the Consolidation of Financial Statements -  
(nothing to report)  4 

    
D. Long-term Debt - (nothing to report) 5 
    
E. Indebtedness to Related Parties  6 
    
F. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers - (nothing to report)  7 
    
G. Capital Stock  8 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIAIRIES 
SCHEDULE A - FINANCIAL ASSETS 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 
 
 

Name of Issuing Entity and Association 
of Each Issue  

Number of shares 
or Principal 

Amount of Bonds 
and Notes  

Amount Shown in the 
Statement of 

Financial Position  

Value Based on 
Market Quotation at 

End of Reporting 
Period  

Income Received 
and Accrued 

Cash  P20,883,077  P20,883,077  P20,883,077   
Trade and other current receivables - 

net 
 

  22,338,852  22,338,852   
Note receivable    112,950,334  112,950,334  P4,344,244 
Equity securities - at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 
 

86,710,000  18,382,520  18,382,520   
  P107,593,077  P174,554,783  P174,554,783  P4,344,244 

See Notes 4, 10 and 18 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SCHEDULE B - AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM DIRECTORS, OFFICERS 

EMPLOYEES, RELATED PARTIES AND PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS (Other than Related Parties) 
DECEMBER 31, 2024 

 
 
 

Name and 
Designation of 

Debtor  

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Period  Additions  
Amounts 
Collected  

Amounts 
Written 

Off  Current  Noncurrent  
Balance at End 

of Period 
Acesite Leisure  

and 
Entertainment 
Corp. (ALEC) 

 P107,023,005  P5,927,329  P   -      P   -      P   -      P   -      P112,950,334 

See Note 10 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SCHEDULE C - AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM RELATED PARTIES WHICH ARE ELIMINATED 

DURING CONSOLIDATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2024 

 
 
 

Name and 
Designation of 

Debtor  

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Period  Additions  
Amounts 
Collected  

Amounts 
Written Off  Current  Noncurrent  

Balance at End of 
Period 

               
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nothing to report 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SCHEDULE D - LONG-TERM DEBT 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 
 
 

Title of Issue and Type of Obligation  
Amount Authorized by 

Indenture  

Amount Shown under 
Caption "Current Portion of 
Long-term Debt" in Related 

Statement of Financial 
Position  

Amount shown under 
Caption "Long-term Debt" in 

Related Statement of 
Financial Position 

       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nothing to report 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SCHEDULE E - INDEBTEDNESS TO RELATED PARTIES 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 
 

Name of Related Party  Balance at Beginning of Period  Balance at End of Period 
Waterfront Philippines, Inc. 

(Parent Company) 
 

P97,070,929  P203,028,522 
Waterfront Cebu City Casino 

Hotel, Incorporated 
 

158,742,286  15,228,873 
Waterfront Mactan Casino Hotel, 

Incorporated 
 

241,446,904  240,429,265 
Davao Insular Hotel Company, 

Inc. 
 

-      77,348,069 
  P497,260,119  P536,034,729 

See Note 10 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SCHEDULE F - GUARANTEES OF SECURITIES OF OTHER ISSUERS 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 
 
 

Name of Issuing Entity of 
Securities of Securities 

Guaranteed by the Company for 
which this Statement is Filed  

Title of Issue of each 
Class of Securities 

Guaranteed  

Total Amount 
Guaranteed and 

Outstanding  

Amount Owned by 
Person for which 
Statement is Filed  

Nature of 
Guarantee 

         
         
         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nothing to report 
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ACESITE (PHILS.) HOTEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SCHEDULE G - CAPITAL STOCK 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 
 
 

Description  

Number of 
Shares 

Authorized  

Number of 
Shares 

Issued and 
Outstanding 

Shown Under 
Related 

Statement of 
Financial 
Position 
Caption  

Treasury 
Shares  

Number of 
Shares Held 
by Related 

Parties  

Directors, 
Officers and 
Employees  Others 

Common shares  1,200,000,000  346,100,578  1,353,058  192,045,057  10,000  152,692,263 
Preferred shares  10,000,000  -      -      -      -      -     

  1,210,000,000  346,100,578  1,353,058  192,045,057  10,000  152,692,263 
See Note 11 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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